Northern Michigan

Anatomy of a Settlement

By Frederick M. Baker, fr.*

g nMay 1992, on an unseasonably warm
i day, three boys went swimming in a
8 pond located on an 85-acre property
E innorthern Michigan. One of the boys

5. lived in a house on the property that
was rented to his parents by a couple who

had purchased it with the goal of one day -

retiring there. Tragically, the tenants’ son
drowned while swimming in the pond, His
mother, as personal representative of his
estate, brought a wrongful death action
against her landlords, as well as a claim in
her own right alleging negligent infliction
of personal injury resulting from her pres-
ence and observation of her son at the scene
of the drowning. Both claims sounded in
negligence.

“Fast forward to Angust 1995, 1 received
a call from my friend Ed Bladen! asking if
1 would be willing to meet with the defen-
dants, against whom a verdict had been
returned that, with interest, was slightly
more than a million dollats, more than
$900,000 in excess of the $100,000 avail-
able under their homeowner’s policy. Per-
haps, he thought, I could find some way
to extricate the clients from this disas-
trous outcome?

*With a hat tip to my friend John Voelher, author of
Anatomy of a Mueder, who would not mind I think:
He took delight in a corporate report that ke tacked
to the wall of the cabin at hs fish camp entitled,
“Anatomy of @ Merger”

When 1 met with my clients, it was ob-
vieus that they were frightened, confused,
and outraged at what the jury had done.
They were understandably despondent at
the prospect of losing everything they had,
which was far less than the amount by
which the verdict exceeded the available
coverage. Indeed, after meeting with them
1 was at least as concerned about their im-
mediate emotional well being as 1 was
about the gravity of their legal situation.
No judgment had yet been entered on the
verdict, owing to a dispute over the proper
calculation of interest, s0 some time was
available, pending a hearing on a motion to
seitle and enter the judgment, to allow me
to review the file and try to develop some
strategy for solving their problem. In the
meantime, 1 tried to reassure them as best
I could, outining in general terms the re-
lief avaitable under the bankruptey laws
in a worst case scenario and describing for
them the appeal process and the likelthood
that a stay could be obtained while an ap-
peal was pending,

ut, when they left my office, the enor-
mity of the problem 1 had tried to

put in perspective for them began to
sink in. 1 contacted their retained insurance
defense counsel, and in my conversations
with him the scope of the disaster scon be-
came evident: The fury bad returned a ver-
diet in an amount 30 times the mediation
award. One of the reasons for that outcome
was the trial judge’s denial of a pretrial
summary disposition motion based on the
Recreational Land Use Act (RLUA), MCL

300.201; MSA 13.1485, on the ground that
the RLUA did not apply to the pond in
question, because, owing to improvements
that the former owner had made to it, it
was not in its “patural state” The trial court
also had allowed the decedent’s mother's
separate personal injury claim to go to the
jury despite the absence of any evidence
that she sustained personal injury apart
from her emotional distress.

They were understandably
despondent at the prospect
of losing everything they
had, which was far less
than the amount by which
the verdict exceeded the
available coverage.

In essence, everything that could go
wrong had gone wrong and, although
grounds existed for post-trial motions for
new frial, j.n.o.v, or remittituy, it was ap-
parent that without some other strategy
any relief would require at least 2 few more
years of expensive litigation.

1 was troubled by the verdict because
it so greatly exceeded the available cover
age. 1 wondered: Did the insurance cofn-
pany have any opportunity to settle this
case within the policy limits? Given the
mediation outcome, 1 assumed that settle-
ment must have been discussed somewhere
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Jlong the line. Exercising my client’s right
1o employ, at their own expense, personal
counsel of their choosing, I secured a copy
of the entire file, including portions of the
ipsurer's claims file. 1 shall never forget
where 1 was sitting and the elation I felt
when  read the following exchange of pre-
suit correspondence from the claims file.
Plaintiffs’ counsel first rejected the insur-
ance company’s previously stated “position”
that the insured landlords “had absolutely
1o control over the property] noting that
his clients “only rented a farmbouse, not a
farm." He believed that the rest of the farm,
wwould be treated as a ‘common area’ under
the control of the landlord” Nevertheless,
after discussing the “liability aspects of this
case” with his clients, he related, they had
sacked that 1 make one more effort 1o set-
tle this case” because they did not want to
“relive this episode thxough litigation.” His
letter concluded:

“f have ashed them to provide me with an
amount of money below which they ab-
solutely will not settle. They have calculated
the bills attributable to their son’s death and
anticipated a future cost for [his sibling’s]
counseling and reached the figure of $40,000.
They have indicated to me that they would
accept no less than that amount to seftle
this case.”

he insurer’s response: “My position
remains the same as 1 stated in your

office. 1 will not pay above the cost:

of defense to settle this file. Thanlk you”
The claims representative had memoed
the file concerning the discussion at the of-
fice of the plaintiff’s counsel referred to in
his letter rejecting the settlement demand:

“Without getting into a blow-by-blow dac-
count of everything that was discussed,
[plaintiffs counsel] wanted me to make him
an offer to settle the case and I declined. Suit
is a foregone conclusion, and I will assign
this to defense counsel when suit is filed.”

Further review of the file and some re-
search satisfied me that I had found the
strategy T was looking for. Tt was time to
vrite a letter:

I represent your insureds as their per-
sonal counsel in this matter. They retained
1e after a verdict for over $829,000 plus
Interest and costs was returned in July of
this year. Although, as you know, judg-
ment will enter only after the hearing held

NORTHERN MICHIGAN

Plaintiffs’ counsel first rejected the insurance company's

previously stated “position” that the insured landlords -

ufad apsolutely no control over the property,” noting that
fiis clients “only rented a farmhouse, not a farm.”

on October 23, because of disputes con-
cerning interest calculations, the judgment
that ultimately enters will probably exceed
$850,000, and interest will continue 10 ac-
crue during the post-trial motion and ap-
peal phases. .

My clients’ policy is in the face amount of
$100,000 per occurrence. At most, depend-
ing on the interpretation of the definition of
occurrence in the policy (“an accident, in-
cluding continuous or repeated exposure to
conditions, which results, during the policy
period, in bodily injury or property dam-

“age neither expected nor intended from the

standpoint of the insured”), and whether
the drowning of the decedent and the in-
jury to [his mother] are regarded as sepa-
rate occurrences, my clients have $200.000
in coverage for the separate claims asserted
by the estate (and its derivative claimants)
and [decedent’s mother], individually, for
her emotional distress. Thus, the judgment
will exceed the coverage available in an
amount ranging from at least $650,000 to
as much as $750,000.

My clients now have a serious problem.
They are facing utter financial Tuin as a
result of the outcome of this cage. Their
net worth subject to execution (ie., net
of secured debt having priority over the
fudgment lien, disregarding any homestead,
personal property, tools of the trade or
other exemptions) is [in the low six-figure
range]. [My client] is retired, drawing a
pension, and working out of his home in
a consulting practice. {His wife] is em-
ployed. The farm where the accident oc-
curred was purchased as their intended re-
tirement home,

1 know [trial counsel], and I am sure
he will do all he can to secure a new trial,
remittitur, or xeversal on appeal. After re-
viewing his file, however (and admittedly
without benefit of the trial transcript, par-
ticularly the instructions), I see no partic-
ular reason for optimism that this result
will be reversed on appeal or substantially
modified by the trial court. This was a jury
verdict, and factual questions decided by
the jury cannot be reopened on appeal. 1

have known [the trial judge} since we were
in high school, and 1 will be very surprised
if he grants any post-trial relief (e.g,, vemit-
titur, j.n.o.v. or new trial). According to
[trial counsel], that leaves as the main is-
sues for appeal only the Recreational Land
Use Act (if the issue is preserved for ap-
peal, a question not free from doubt, since
no instruction on it was requested), which
at least arguably does not apply, as [the
trial judgel ruled; and the award on [dece-
dent’s mother’s] individual claim for emo-
tional distress {which would reduce the
total award by only $125,000 even if it
were reversed).

ow is the time, while the uncer-
tainty (and delay) of an appeal
works in our favor, to approach this .

- case creatively to achieve a solution that-

my clients, [your company] and the plain-
tifs can live with. .

Any solution is going to require realis-
tic appraisal by [your company] of its ex-
posure to excess liability in this case, so 1
will address that point before describing
to you what I believe is a workable settle-
ment strategy. :

The Bad Faith Claim.
Against [Your Company]

1 briefed and argued Stockdale v Jami-
son, 416 Mich 217 (1982). 1 am familiar
with the law of bad faith in Michigan. Itis
an area in which 1 have practiced during
the decade since 1 largely stopped doing re-
tained insurance defense work and began
representing insureds in coverage disputes.
When Stockdale was decided, 1 predicted
that if insurers abused the rule limiting
their excess liability to the value of the in-
sured’s nonexempt assets, the Court prob-
ably would re-examine that rule. In Frank-

* enmuth Mutual Insurance Co v Keeley (on

reh), 436 Mich 372 (1990}, the Court re-
versed its decision in that case reported at
433 Mich 525 (1989), and instead adopted
the dissenting oplnion by Justice Levin at
433 Mich 546. Although the Court ulti-
mately retained the Stockdale measure of
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damages in wrongful refusal to settle cases,
the Court came within one vote of fulfill-
ing my prediction. 1 mentiort this because,
regrettably, fyour company] made almost
every mistake possible here. 1 have every
confidence that bad faith can be established
if fyour company] forces my clients to as-
sert such a claim. This case would afford
the Court both an opportunity and a rea-
son to revisit the rule once again.

{1 sound confident of the merits of my
Iclients’ claim, it is because the Supreme

Court finally ended any uncertainty
about the rules governing recovery for
wrongful refusal to settle with its decision
in Commercial Union Insurance Co v Liberty
Mutual Insurance Co, 426 Mich 127 (1986).
The uncertainty stermmed from the frag-
mented origins of the rule in the early de-
cision in City of Wakefield v Globe Indemnity
Co, 246 Mich 645 (1929). A majority of the
Court in City of Wakefield actually sub-
scribed to an opinion originally authored
as a dissent, so it was a puzzle to inter-
pret. The decision in Commercial Union put
to rest any argument under City of Wake-
field that an insured had the burden of
showing “fraud” or “dishonesty” on the part
of the insurer to establish bad faith. After
Commercial Union, the rule is very simple
and easy to understand,

“We define ‘bad faith’ for instructional use
in trial courts as arbitrary, rechless, in-
different or intentional disregard of the
interest of the person owed a duty.” 426
Mich at 136 (emphasis added).

The Court went on to explain:

“Good-falth dentals, offers of compromise, or
other honest errors of judgment are not suf-
ficient to establish bad faith. Further, claims
of bad faith cannot be based upon negligence
or. bad judgment, so long as the actions
were made honestly and without conceal-
-tnent. However, because bad faith is a state
of mind, there can be bad faith without
actual dishonesty or fraud. If the insurer
is motivated by selfish purpose or by a
" desire to protect its own interests at the
expense of its insured’s inferest, bad fuith
exists, even though the insurer’s actions
were not actually dishonest or fraudulent.”
426 Mich at 136-7 (emphasis added).

Finally, to simplify the determination,
the Court listed the-following “factors” to be
censidered by the fury in deciding whether
an insurer acted in bad faith in refusing
to settle: )

NORTHERN MICHIGAN

1. Failure to keep the insured fully in-
Jormed of all developments in the claim or suit
that could reasonably affect the interests of
the insured;

2. Failure to inform the insured of all set-
tlement offers that do not fail within the pol-
icy limits;

3. Failure to solicit a settlement offer or tni-
tiate settlement negotiations when warranted
under the circumstances:

4. Failure to accept a reasonable compro-
mise offer of settlement when the facts of the
case or claim indicate obvious liability and
serious injury;

5. Rejection of a reasonable offer of settle-
ment within the policy limits;

6. Undue delay in accepting a reasonable
offer to settle a potentally dangerous case
within the policy limits where the verdict
potendal is high; .

7. An attempt by the insurer to coerce or
cbtain an jnvoluntary contribution from
the insured in order to settle within the
pelicy limits; ,

8. Failure to make a proper investigation
of the claim before refusing an offer of seftle-
ment within the policy Hmits;

9. Disregarding the advice or recom-
mendations of an adjuster or attorney,

10. Serious and recurrent negligence by
the insurer;

11. Refusal to seitle a case within the pol-
icy limits following an excessive verdict when
the chances of reversal on appeal are slight
or doubtful; and :

12, Failure to take an appeal following a
verdict in excess of the policy limits where

there are reasonable grounds for such an

appeal, especially where trial counsel so
recommended.

426 Mich at 137-8 (emphasis added).

In this case, virtually every (empha-
sized) factor listed above that is applicable
to the circumstances of this case is present:

& After the plaintiff's counsel submit-
ted his settlement brochure, dated 11-23-
92 (Exhibit A), outlining the basis for his
claims and demanding what he believed
to be policy limits of $300,000, [one of
your claims adjusters] memoed the file on
11/25/92. {Exhibir B). Incredibly, with a
$300,000 demdnd in hand and an outline
of the same theories of liability that per-
suaded the jury to award $829,000 in dam-
ages, [your adjuster] observes that “even
though the limits are well below our rein-
surance retention, the file should probably
become a precautionary reinsurance re-

S

port.” Clearly, fyour company| early rec.
ognized that the policy limits migh; pe
inadequate to cover the exposure in thig
wrongful death case. Equally clearly, lyour
company] acted without the benefit of ,
thorough investigation or any legal analysis
of the claims asserted when it responded 14
the plaintiff’s settlement demand, Instead,
[your adjuster] merely wrote to the plain-
tiff’s counsel to correct his mistaken helief
that the policy limits were $300,000 (in
fact they were $100,000), and to suggest a
meeting “to discuss our respective posi-
tions” (Exhibit C).

...claims of bad faith
cannot be based upon
negligence or bad judgment,
so long as the actions
were made honestly and

- without concealment.

¢ [Your adjuster] then wrote to [your
insured] and asked him to call, by letter
dated 12/16/92, (Exhibit D). He wanted to
discuss “a couple of questions that have
come up in my mind” According to his
subsequent memo to the file (Exhibit E), he
learned from [your insured] that in atl prob-
ability the pond where the drowning occurred
was man made or had been “worked on.”
This ultimately proved to be the case, and
on that basis [the trial judge] held the Rec-
reational Use Act inapplicable (Exhibit E|
Opinion). Thus, [your adjuster] and [your
company] knew the facts on which the
Recreational Land Use Act defense would
fail by no later than December 21, 1992,
nearly a year before suit was filed.

# As Exhibit E reflects, [your adjuster]
also knew about the lease (the “letter of
understanding."} under which, the Court
ruled (see Fxhibit F), a question of fact
existed on the issue of control. Yet [your
adjuster], knowing that “of course, control is
a critical issue,” and that “there were restric-
tions [on the tenants’ use of the properiy]
written into the letter of understanding,’
nevertheless stated that “it will be my posi-
tion that our insured had absolutely no con-
trol over the property” {Exhibit E). Nothing
tyour adjuster] then knew, and nothing un-
covered by [trial counsel] in the course of
discovery, ever negated the ambiguity on
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the issue of control that guaranteed that

issue would remain one of fact and go to .

the jury. Certainly, nothing [your adjuster]
knew then or later learned supported a
claim that the insureds had “absolutely no
control” over the property.

o Nevertheless, [your adjuster] met with
plaintiffs’ counsel on January 12, 1993, and,
25 his memo of January 13, 1993, reflects
(Exhibit G); “[Plaintiffs’ counsel] wanted
me to make him an offer to settle the case
and I declined” In short: (1) with no clear

legal or factual basis for concluding that

your insured had no liability, and (2) with-
out having conferred with counsel on the
“critical issue” of control, (a point on whick
he realized “we may ultimately have to
seek a legal opinion™——see Exhibit G), and
(3) with no factual basis for his "position”
that the insureds had “absolutely no con-
trol? [your adjuster] refused to negotiate, or
make any offer of settlement, in a death
case involving a young boy and claims by
several relatives,

» However, that is not the worst of it:
[Your adjuster] concludes in his 1/13/92
memo (Exhibit G) that “Suit is a foregone
conclusion,” and that he “will assign this to
defense counsel when suit is filed.” He de-
cided to reject settlement and to force suit
and adhered to that position despite the fur-
ther developments that occurred. Indeed,
on the same day, he wrote to your insured
that “Int the not too distant futare the at-
torneys, representing the Estate of [the de-
cedent], will be filing suit.™ He dees not
even meniion in that letter to your insureds:
(1) that a written offer of setrlement had
been received, (2) that [your company] had
spurned the plaintiffs’ offer to settle at (the

.correct) policy limits, (3) that [your com-

pany] had refused to make any counter-
offer of settlernent, and (4) and fyour com-
pany] was forcing the plaintiff to sue. See
Exhibit B. Of course, his letter contains
1o disclosure that your insureds also had
already been subject to a setilement de-
mand in excess of the policy limits; that
the policy limits had been demanded; that
your insureds might need separate coun-
sel; or that he had rejected the settlement
propesal without even having secured an
opinion on the legal issue that he himself
characterizes as “critical” In so doing, [your
adjuster] satisfied factors 1, 2, 3, 4, 8 and
10. See Cornmercial Union, supra.

® Next, after confirming that the limits

_were lower than plaintiffs’ counsel had

thought (Exhibit 1), [your adjuster] re-

ceived a final settlement demand (Exhibit
1 of $40,000. To this demand, which was
less than five percent of the vendict, and only
40 percent of the policy limits, he responded:
“My position remains the same as 1 stated
in your office. I will not pay above the cost
of defense to seitle this file.” (Exhibit K).
(Emphasis added). This response is in-
comprehensible to me, As you know, that is
what is commonly termed a “nuisance set-
tlement” offer. [Your adjuster] had no factual

. or legal basis for concluding that this was a

meritless claim having only nuisance value.
More importanily, he did not inform your
insureds that such an offer had been made,
nor did he, once again, advise them to seek
counsel. He rolled the dice with your in-
sured's. fate, futare, and security. He also
supplied factor 5 and additional instances
of factors 1, 3 and 4. See Commercial Union,
supra. Certainly his decision and conduct
were “arbitrary, reckless, indifferent” and/or
in “intentional disregard for the interests
of the person owed a duty” i.e, your in-
sureds. Indeed, it is highly significant that
not one of his communications with plain-
tiffs' counsel was copied to your insureds,
and nof once did [your company] disclose
to its insureds that it had repeatedly re-
jected settlement offers, refused to negoti-
ate settlement, and rejected an offer to set-
tle for Jess than half of the policy Timits,

® Itis thus ironic that, nine months later,
when suit was finally filed, [your adjuster]
wrote to your insureds directing them to
“extend [their] fullest cooperation” to as-
signed defense counsel. (Exhibit L). Even
though [your adjuster] expressly recog-
nized that “the possibility exists that an
award could be in excess of the coverage
available under your policy he concealed
all that had occurred. His advice to your
insureds that they had the "right to retain
connsel of your own choosing, at your ex-
pense, to protect your interests,” was not
only an empty form of words (all oppor-
tunity to consult with their own counsel
at a2 meaningful time, while settlement was
being discussed, having been lost), it was
essentially dishonest, because he never re-
vealed what he had done to jeopardize their
interests by refusing to negotiate and re-
jecting all setflement proposals. Indeed, my
clients were unaware until receiving copies of
this correspondence after the verdict was ren-
dered that [your adjuster] had exposed them
to financial ruin by rejecting a reasonable set-
tlement offer well within the policy limits and
forcing this case to go to trial. See Factor 1.

T will not continue the catalog of [your
comipany’s] bad faith conduct beyond this
point, for several reasons. First, 1 lack com-
plete information (for example, although
[trial counsel] has confirmed that the “de-
fense costs” that [your adjuster] offered as
a nuisance settlement were much greater
than his initial budget estimate of $10,000,
and promised to provide that total, he has
not as yet obliged). In addition, 1 have had
no opportunity to review the complete
home office and branch office claims files,
nor to depose [your adjuster] and those in-
volved in the decision to reject settlement
and force trial.

sabers-—we need to cooperate 1o solve

the problems that the mishandling of this
case has caused, and it would not be con-
structive to threaten you with dire conse-
quences. I will, however, slate a simple fact:
The circumstances outlined above afford an
ample basis for holding [your company] re-
sponsible for wrongful refusal to settle.

A Workable Settlement Strétegy

Fortunately, for [your company] (and
my chents), there is still some light at the
end of this tunnel. As you can see (Exhibit
M), T have spoken to the plaintiffs’ coun-
sel to advise him that I am representing
your insureds as theix personal counsel. I
inquired whether any possibility of settle-
ment exists, such as a “high/low” arrange-
ment pending appeal, under which his cli-
ents might agree to accept less than the
verdict if they win on appeal in exchange

Iwﬂl not spend any more time rattling

for a lower guaranteed recovery if they lose.

His response (Exhibit M) reveals that he
is unaware of two important facts: (1) my
clients’ net worth is only slightly greater
than the policy limits, and (2) under Frank-
enmuth, that is a limit on his total recov-
ery, because the Court reaffirmed {(by one
vote, on rehearing) application of the dam-
age rule in Stockdale in wrongful refusal
to settle cases.

{Your company] can protect itself (and
its insureds), then, by agreeing to fund a
settlement offer in an amount roughly
equivalent to policy limits and my clients’
net worth (their assets not exempt from
attachment), which 1 suspect would total
from $250,000 to $300,000. By doing so,
{your company] can: (1) avoid adding
factor 11 from Commercial Union to my
clients’ bad faith case, (2) avoid a bad faith
judgment against it (including payment of
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my fees for securing it, wnder Murphy v
Cincinnati Insurance Co, 772 F2d 273 (CA
6, 1985) (applying Michigan law to allow
an attorney fee award to an insured whose
insurer forced its insured to incur the fees
to recover for the insurer’s bad faith refusal
to pay its claim}, (3) avoid jeopardizing the
rule in Michigan, established in Stochdale
and nearly overturned in Frankentmuth, Tim-
iting insurers’ excess liability 1o the value
of their insured’s nonexempt assets, and
(4) avoid incurring the substantial expense
of further proceedings (post-trial and on
appeal) in this case and the expense of lit-
jgating the bad faith claim that will surely
be filed if {your company! refuses to face
up to its responsibilities in this case,

y friend [name omitted], who
Mfounded your company in the

same year I was born, has told me
more than once that in his day the com-
pany’s philosophy was very simple: * we
owe the claim, pay it." You owe this claim,
. Not because [your company] is evil or bad,
but because [your company] blundered
badly in its handling of this claim, Virtnally
every rule that applied to this case, as set
out in Commercial Union, has been broken.
It is now time to step up and do the right
thing, Rather than jeopardizing everything
my clients have worked and saved their en-
‘tire fives to accumulate, rather than insisting
that {your company] did nothing wrong,
rather than wishfuily thinking that a jury
will not agree with me (this time a jury
from [your insured’s] home town), [your
company] should take this opportunity to
cut its losses and protect its insureds.

Given the authority to do so, 1 believe
I can demenstrate to plaintiffs’ counsel
why he should agree to a negotiated com-
promise, Give me that authority, please,
or, i you prefer, do it yourself, through
[trial counsel}, for whose abilities 1 have
high regard.

When Chief Justice Willlams asked me
during argument why the Court should
reverse the judgment against the insurer
in Stockdale, 1 told him that T asked myself
the same question until I learned from trial
counsel that the jury had actually found for
the insurer, and that the Court had set
aside that verdict of no bad faith on jn.ox
“When 1 found that out 1 said, “I felt like
Brother Dominick and looked to the heav-
ens, saying ‘It's a miracle’” Soapy laughed,
and the Court reinstated the jury's verdict
in Stockdale.

¥ NORTHERN MICHIGAN

In this case, the jury found for [plain-
tiffs]. 1 am firmly of the opinion that this
time salvation does not lie in a miracle
on appeal—rather, it lies in acknowledg-
ing error and correcting it now, while rea-
son exists to believe that the error can
be repaired.

I have not designated this as an offer
of compromise inadmissible under MRE
408 because, if {your company] refuses
this proposal, it will be Exhibit A in a bad
faith action against {your company). I have
shown you the way out of a dilemma in
which [your company] has placed itself
and my chents. I hope Iyour company} will
have the good sense to avail itself of that
way out and do the correct and honorable
thing here, .

1look forward to hearing your response,
and hope I can look forward to working
cooperatively with [your company] and
[trial counsel] to resolve this matter sensi-
bly along the lines I have proposed. Noth-
ing in this letter should be interpreted,
however, as a waiver of any rights my cli-
ents have at law or in equity.

In the meantime, T am by copy of this
letter informting [your company’s] selected
counsel that [ wish to receive copies of all
future correspondence and pleadings in
this matter, so that I can effectively moni-
tor the proceedings and assist my clients in
my capacity as their personal counsel. This
will also confirm that, at my request, plain-
tiffs’ counsel has agreed, for the fime being,
to defer the taking of the debtor's exam
that he demanded in his letter of Septem-
ber 20, 1995, a copy of which is enclosed.
{Exhibit N).

Thank you for your attention.

Tam a firm believer in pulling out all of
the stops in demand letters to insurers.
That was what I did here, because doing
any less would not accomplish the goal of
getting my clients out from under the ter-
rible weight of the judgment about to enter
against them, I wanted the insurance com-
pany to sit up, take notice, assign the case
to outside counsel, and give me someone to
negotiate with to secure the authority 1
needed to implement the strategy 1 had in
mind. Because everything my clients had
was only a drop in the bucket of this ver-
dict, 1 wanted to accomplish one of two
things: Either I would secure authority to
offer the plaintiffs encugh of the insurance
company’s money to seitle this case, or I
would exchange my clients’ cause of action

against their insurer for wrongful refusaf 1,
settle for a covenant not to execute against
them. Or, perhaps, some combination of
the two.

ncertainty and the delays inherey;
l lin the Jegal process would be my al.
lies. My goal was to have my clienty
extricated completely from this case long
before any appeal could be decided. All set.
tlements are the product of uncertainty,
and the trial court’s rulings supplied that
ingredient in abundance.
1 did not control events, because 1 was
merely the insureds’ personal counsel, but
I was determined to control what events

. could. Before I could put my plan in mo-

1 am a firm believer in
pulling out all of the stops
in demand letters to
insurers...because doing
any less would not
accomplish the goal of
getting my clients out from
under the terrible weight
of the judgment about to
enter against them.

tion, however, and within days after the
demand letter was sent, the insurer unilat-
erally directed trial counsel to tender its
policy limyits, with interest, to plaintiffs, an
action 1 learned of only after he had done
so. | was hot—this action represented yet
another instance, I feared, of factor 10 un-
der Commercial Union, for the reasons ex-

-plained within.

At the same time, trial counsel was pre-
paring post-trial motions for jn.ov., new
trial and remittitur, which 1 asked to re-
view and comment upon, because it was
essential that plaintiffs’ counsel perceive
them as posing a credible threat to the ver-
dict he had obtained if there was to be any
hope of a negotiated settlement,

Meanwhile, it was time to speak fur-
ther with plaintiffs’ counsel and begin the
process of exploring the possibility of set-
tlernent. 1 did so with the permission of the
new outside counsel, whom the insurance
company had retained in response to my
demand letrer. Working in cooperation
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with trial counsel, the new outside coun-
sel also paid me the compliment of asking
me to assist in preparing the post-trial mo-
tions and brief. {With my clients’ consent,
1 agreed to do so, despite my recognition
that my participation could help insulate
the insurer from any claim that it had mis-
handled the post-trial phase. Out of con-
cern for the expense that work would entail
for my clients, however, my assistance was
conditioned on the insurance company’s
paying my fees for time spent on that effort,
to which the insurer agreed, and to which
my clients also consented after full disclo-
sure to them of this unique arrangement).

eanwhile, not only had the insur-
Mer‘s outside counsel approved of

my proposal to seek settlement in
discussions with the plaintiffs’ counsel, he
had secured authorization from the insurer
to grant me $200,000 worth of authority,
including what already had been tendered
and paid. It was clear from the coopera-
tion I was receiving that outside counsel
had brought factor 11 under Commercial
Union to the insurer’s attention.?

1 called plaintiffs’ counsel and ontlined
to him the same proposal described in the
demand letter to the insurer. Plaintiffs’
counsel, to his credit, had read carefully
the same cases I relied on, and brought to
my attention the cursed footnote in Jus-
tice Levin’s dissent in Frankenmuth, 433
Mich at 565 n 283 It is, without a doubt,
the most troublesome footnote Justice
Levin ever wrote, which I say with all the
tespect due one of Michigan’s greatest ju-
tists, The whole purpese, it seems to me, of
the rule in Stockdale, of which the rule ul-
timately adopted in Frankenmuth is but a
counterpart, is to provide a means of es-
tablishing the amount of an insurer’s lia-
bility without requiring the insured actu-
ally to declare bankruptcy. By limiting the
amount recoverable to a sum equal to the
lmsured’s nonexempt assets, the Court
sought to make it unnecessary for the in-
Stred actually to declare, and incur the ex-
Pense of, bunkruptcy.

The rule in Stockdale called for one as-
Sessment, gs if the insured had declared
bankruptc)n but without requiring the
Insured to actually do so. This is so be-
Cause, were the insured actually to declare
bankruptcy and secure a discharge {which
Would be available in this case, because
the claim was not based on intentional
or wilful misconduct), ne further collection
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of the debt would be possible. Therefore, it
seems to me, the same should be true un-
der the Stochdale/Frankenmuth approach,
with the salutary effect that the insured is
actoally to spare declaring bankruptey.
Even though it is inconsistent with the
“hypothetical bankruptcy” -measure of
damages Stockdale prescribes, 1 have no
quarrel with incloding the insured’s hypo-
thetical future income in determining net
worth—that would enhance the total re-
covery. But Justice Levin's approach, which
can be read as calling for successive hearings
over the course of the insured’s “measuring
life” on the current state of his or her fi-
nances, strikes me as both unwieldy and
unwise. It also complicates the problem of
arriving at 4 settlement fignre: The plain-
tiffs’ counsel can always argue (as be did
in this case) that the insured might win
the lottery or inherit a fortune from a rich
uncle. On the other hand, if settlements are

-the children of uncertainty, this footnote

certainly contributed a good measure of it
to the cause. :

In any case, plaintiffs’ counsel made
excellent use of footnote 28, which, he be-
lieved, in yet another possible interpreta-
tion, suggested that the rule in Franken-
muth contemplates an initial hearing to
determine the insured’s collectibility. This
would include a determination of both the
insured’s present ability to pay (i.e, non-
exemnpt assets currently available at the time
of the hearing) and of the insured's future
prospects (using expert testimony to predict
future earnings, and allowing the assess-
ment of other future prospects, such as
inheritance), with the total amount de-
termined at such a hearing to be payable
immediately, but with the possibility of
additional future hearings and awards—
apparently throughout the insured's life-
time—i, as a result of future good fortune,
the insured actually comes into more than
the amount found collectible at the origi-
nal hearing. In other words, plaintiffs’
counsel made use of the same uncertainty
principle that I hoped to use to encourage
settlement to increase the hypothetical
amount of that settlement. If his interpre-
tation of the procedure described in Foot-
note 28 was the law, however, I feared that
settlement at any compromise figure would
be infinitely more complicated.

After our initial discussions and an ex-
change of correspondence highlighting our
different interpretations of Frankenmuth, 1
wrote to counsel for plaintiffs to summa-

rize the uncertainties that, I believed, war-
ranted consideration of a settlement in the
amotnt the insurer had authorized me
to offer:

o The verdict was remarkably unsup-
ported by any proofs of loss at trial, and ex-
ceeded the mediation award (after discov-
ery had been completed) by a factor of 30,
suggesting at least some possibility of re-
mittitur, or reduction or veversal on appeal;

& A possible double {or overlapping)
recovery by the decedent’s mother, whose
claim was unsupported by any showing
that she sustained any physical injury; and

# The strong possibility that the trial
court’s ruling on the RLUA' applicability
was incorrect {(although 1 also had to ac-
knowledge that, because trial counsel had
elected not to request an instruction under
the RLUA—owing to the trial court’s pre-
trial ruling that it did not apply—at least
sore question existed whether that issue
was preserved for appeal).

continued to multiply. Plaintifts’ counsel

was not persnaded that a second policy
limit did not apply to the mother's sepa- .
rate claim (i.e., he did not agree that it was
merely a derivative claim, but viewed it as
a separate occurrence for which a second
recovery was possible under the policy up
to the policy amount). So, he did not re-
gard the $200,000 that 1 had autherity to
offer as any more than could be recovered
under the policy itself, He also recognized
{(as I did) that the Court might very well be
willing to revisit (or, worse, confirm his
interpretation: of) the Stockdale/Frarnken-
muth rule limiting recovery to the amount
of the insured’s nonexempt assets,

Finally, plaintiffs' counsel injected a new
wrinkle—and a new element of uncer-
tainty—by arguing, in opposition to the
mation for j.n.o.w, new trial or remittitur,
and in opposition to a motion to stay pro-
ceedings pending disposition of that mo-
tion, that my clients’ right to appeal had
been extinguished by the insurer’s “volun-
tary” payment of its policy limits, with in-
terest. He reasoned that such a payment
constituted an acknowledgment of the va-
lidity of the judgment, thereby rendering
any appeal mooti* Needless to say, this
prompted yet another round of frantic re-
search and briefing,

Meanwhile, counsel for the insurer was
careful to Tespond, point by point, to the
Commercial Union factors addressed in the

Indeed, uncertainties abounded, and they
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demand letter to the insurer, outlining all
of the reasons for concluding that the in-
suver had behaved reasonably, particularly
given the Commercial Union Court’s recog-
nition that “the conduct under scrutiny
maust be eonsidered in light of the circum-
stances existing at the time” :

theless, I arranged for a meeting at

my office of counsel for the plain-
tiffs and counsel for the insurer to discuss
in detail the possibility of devising a set-
tlement {either partial or complete) that
would be acceptable to all and that would
extricate my clients from further exposure
to liability. At the meeting I provided de-
tailed information about my clients’ assets,
income, and future prospecis. It was my
hope that, through a combination of: using
some or all of the authority the insurer had
extended; a covenant not to execute; and
an assigument to plaintiffs of my clients’
rights under the policy (i.e,, any “bad faith”
claim they might have}, 1 could persuade
plaintiffs and the insurer to, in effect, “let
my people go” and agree to sort out be-
tween themselves whether any additional
afnounts were recoverable.

The only leverage 1 had—the threat of
bankruptcy—was a two-edged {or pethaps
three-edged) sword: On one hand, I could
deprive plaintiffs of any recovery beyoud
my clients’ nonexempt assets not subject to
prior liens, but obviously that would mean
the loss to my clients of everything they
had accurmulated in working lives that had
not so many years left in which to accu-
mulate more. Moreover, arguably, declaring
‘bankruptey would work to the insurer's ad-
vantage, because any bad faith claim that
my clients held would be lost to them in
bankruptcy, and probably not pursued vig-
orously: unless it were acquired by plain-
tiffs, as in Rutter v King, supra. it was of

This was not going to be easy, Never-

“
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a parimer int the Lansing
office of Honigman Miller
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value to my clients only if T could vse it as
a bargaining chip to avoid the need o go
through bankruptey (or, undex plaintffs’
counsel's interpretation of Frankenmuth,
the yeats of litigation and expense that es-
tablishing and enforcing a bad faith claim
would entail)!

Finally, because the net worth rule es-
tablishes a ceiling on the recovery for bad
faith, owing to the “commercial contract”
damage rule adopted in Kewin v Massdachu-
setts Mutual, 409 Mich 401; 295 NW2d 50
(1980), attorney fees would be deducted
from my clients' net worth recovery in a
bad faith action unless a Michigan state
court could be persuaded to apply the rule
in Murphy v Cincinnati Insurance Co, supra.
Thus, even assuming that an attorney could
be found who would be willing to gam-
ble on a contingent fee arrangement or the
possibility of a Murphy fee award, the ceil-
ing on recovery probably diminished the
bad faith claimys value by the transactional
costs involved, especially if the claim
emerged as an asset held by plaintiffs out of
a bankruptcy that would entail additional
expense for all concerned and leave my
clients with little more than a clean slate.
These concerns I kept to myself, however.

At the conclasion of our meeting, T de-
tected at least some interest on the part of
both plaintiffs’ counsel and the insurer’s
counsel in pursning the possibility of such
an arrangement. Plaintifts’ counsel wanted
additional information about my clients’
assets and future financial prospects, which
we agreed to and did provide. The insurer
extended slightly more authority, justifying
its decision io do so on the at least axguable

" proposition that there were two occul-

rences under the policy, rather than 4 sin-
gle occurrence (the child's death) from
which the mothet’s claim derived.

5till, it appeared unlikely that plaintiffs
would be willing to let my clients go, and
plaintiffs’ counsel appeared to regard it as
to his client’s advantage to keep my clients
under the heavy cloud of the judgment
against them, so that their plight could be
used as a lever in bargaining with both my
clients and the insurer,

What caused the change in position I
cannot be certain, but within a few weeks,
after further discussions, plaintiffs’ coun-
sel was willing at least to consider the
terms of an agreement calling for a sub-
stantial payment (to be funded by the in-
surer, using the authority it had granted),
coupled with an assignment to plaintiffs

of any claim that my clients had against

the insurer for bad faith, and otherwise re-

leasing the insurer from any other claims.

Was it the threat of declaring bankruptey?

Was it the strength of the arguments ad-

vanced in support of the motion for new

trial, jn.o.v., and Temittitur, or the weak-

ness of the opinion denying those motions,

which was issued only a few days before

the partial settlernent and release was exe-

cuted? Was it the trial court’s grant of a stay

and its rejection of plaintifis’ argument that
the insurer’s partial satisfaction of the judg-
ment resulied in waiver of my clients’ right
to appeal? Was it the impatience of plain-

tiffs themselves to secure additional fands?

Was it plaintiffs’ counsel’s belief that, by se-
curing an assignment of any and all claims
that my clients possessed, and by secur-
ing their agreement to cooperate in bring-
ing any claim for malpractice that they
wmight have (but which they could not as-
sign under Michigan law),? he could mul-
tiply the recovery the jury had bestowed
on his clients? Was it a concern that the
appeal itself might succeed (a concern 1 be-
lieved justified), and that it was best to
clear the field and empower plaintiffs to
negotiate exclusively with the insurer for
an advantageous settlement while the ap-
peal was pending? Was it plaintiffs’ coun-
sel’s desire to rid himself of me and my
endless meddling, which must have left
him feeling as if he were being pecked to
death by a duck 7 (I like to think so.)

1 am uncertain.

hat 1 do know is that my clients
W were the beneficiaries of a tri-

partite agreement, executed 12
days after denial of the motions for new
trial, j.m.o.v., and remittitur. Under the
agreement, in exchange for 2 pagment in
a substantial amount, funded by the in-
surer, and my clients' assignment to plain-
tiffs of any and all claims that they might
possess against their insurer (accomparied
by their agreement to cooperate by pro-
viding truthful testimony in pursuing such
claims), my clients were insulated from all
further liability by an all-encompassing
covenant 1ot to sue, execute, levy, or other-
wise enforce the judgment against them.

1 suspect that the equanimity with which
my clients received the news that, at last,
a breakthrough had been achieved, and
that they were free from the threat of bank-
ruptcy, with their assets intact (and with
the lion’s share of my fees having been paid
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by the insurer), is attributable to their abid-
ing and deep-seated helief, amounting to a
jnoral certainty, that they had done nothing
wrong, and that, therefore, this result was
pothing more than their due—and 1 un-
Jerstand that. They are not lawyers. They
do not know how much thought, lying
awake at night blinking in the dark, re-
search, agonizing, swallowed anger, frus-
wation, disappointment, posturing, threats
(made and given), and sheer anxiety at the
prospect of what would befall them if 1
failed were involved in the months of ne-
gotiations that culminated in this agree-
ment. That is, at once, one of the joys and
{rustrations of being an attorney: Ofien,
when a good result is achieved, only an-
other attormey can really appreciate what
has been accormplished.

will say this, however: 1 was no clev-

erer than, and just as lucky as, the other

attorneys with whom I labored and ne-
gotiated to find a way to resolve this case.
FEven when their tenacity aggravated me as
much as mine did them, 1 counted it a
privilege to be working with thein, because
they were professionals who took seriously
the overriding goal of achieving the best
possible outcome for theix clients, They
understood the uncertainty principle and,
like me, used it to their clients’ advantage.
They recognized, as the best attorneys al-
ways do, that some things are too impor-
tant to be left to judges.

As apostscript, 1later learned that 2 final
compromise was achieved, and counsel
were good enough to send me a copy of the
satisfaction that was entered when the un-
derlying action was dismissed, nearly a
year after the agreement that relieved my
clients of any further liability. In my esti-
mation, each side did an excellent job for
their clients; serious money moved, but
significantly less than the judgment.

In the end, I suppose, that's what most
attorneys do: they move money (or pre-
vent it from moving), with the justifica-
tion for their existence—and the cost of
their services-—being measured by how
much money does or does not move. In
this case, everyone involved was entitled
to a little “hero” badge, even if our respec-
tive clients, so bruised and brutalized by
the events that gave rise to the litigation,
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impnulse to pin medals on our chests. That’s
perfectly all right: That's what we're paid
for, and that's why, in the end, doing a good
job for a client must be its own reward. ®’

Footnotes

1. By the time this is published, he will be the
Hon. Edwin M. Bladen, as he Tecently ac-
cepted an appointment as an adminis-
trative law judge with the United States
Coast Guard.

2. Indeed, the insurer’s outside counsel were
50 cooperative—within understandable
limits—that it occurred to me to wonder
whether the insurer's helpful post-judgment
conduct could render the bad faith claim val-
ueless. If a covenant not to execute were ob-
tained in exchange for an assignment of any
bad faith claim and additional consideration
provided by the insurer, could the insurer
argue that the bad faith claim had no value
because the insurer had acted effectively to
protect the insured from the consequences
of the excess judgment brought about by
any bad faith in the insurer's pre-judgment
handling of the case? On balance, I think
not, not only because Rutter v King, 57 Mich
App 152; 226 NW2d 79 (1974), and, indeed,
Stockdale, involved claims chtained from the
insured by assignment (albeit an assignment
in bankruptey in Rutter), but also because
such a rule would operate to destroy the in-
sured’s only means of extricating him or her-
self from the consequences of an insurer’s
bad faith short of actually undergoing those
consequences, Although the life of the law
is not logic, it nevertheless seemed to me
fmprobable that an insured’s efforts to miti-
gate damage, using the covenant/assignment
method, would produce such a counter-
intuitive result. At most, it seemed o0 me, the
insurer's post-judgment (and post-bad faith)
conduct might be raised later, in any bad
faith action, as a mitigating factor, with
credit to be given against the insurer’s ulti-
mate liability for any contribution it made
to assist the insured. That seemed consistent
with the requirement, under factor 11 of
Commercigl Union, that the insurer must
refuse to-settle within policy limits after an
excess judgment when an appeal fs doubt-
ful: An assignment/covenant arrangement
is mot a settlement, after all, but merely a
protective measure that mitigates the harm
to the insured and prevents any further
harm from occurring, In any case, I did not
share my musings on this question with
counsel for plaintiffs or the insurer, regard-
ing this as a question to which the answer
should best be left uncextain.

3. Foomote 28 reads: The Court should, in de-
termining Keeley’s prospect of attaining in
the future additional assets, consider his ed-
ucational achievement and plans for future
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education, his skills, present and prospec-
tive, and the job opportunities that might
be available to him.

1 would prefer to direct entry of a judg-
ment declaring that Frankenmuth is subject
to liability (not that it is liable} for the
$600,000 excess plus interest as it accrues,
but would not requite Frankenmuth to pay
any amount in respect to that jndgment un-
less and until and then only to the extent
Boone can establish that Keeley is collecta-
ble [sic]. .

As and when Keeley acquires assets,
greater income, inheritance, whatever, Boone
could seek a declaration requiring Franken-
muth to pay an equivalent amount. The
judgment against Frankenmuth would sub-
stitute for the judgment against Keeley, so
that Keeley’s credit would no longer be ad-
versely affected. The burden thirs imposed
on Boone, the injured person, would be no
greater than in any case where there is in-
adequate insurance—he could enly recover
to the extent that he could find attachable
or garnishable assets.

Boone would be better off because he
need not actually attach or garnish, and
there should be a minimum of judicial pro-
ceedings. Such a judgment should not be
subject to any statute of limitations, There
would be no possibility of bankruptey dis-
charge of Keeley’s debt.

. On this point, which may sound absurd on

its face, and which, fortunately, and I be-
lieve correctly, the wial court rejected, the
reader is frivited to examine the rather am-
biguous line of Michigan cases addressing
this issue. See, Watson v Kane, 31 Mich 61
(1875) (payment by garnishee defendant
was not an objection to pursuing a writ of
ertor because payment upon execution by a
garnishor cannot be treated as “voluntary”),
People v Leavitt, 41 Mich 470, 2 NW 812
{1879) (payment of a fine of $5 for viola-
tion of an ordinance requiring snow removal
resulted in the defendant’s having “volun-
tarily submitted to the conviction and dis-
charged the entire penalty without the award
of process,” and thus it was unnecessary to
address the merits of the appeal, because
nothing remained “on which the judgment
of the Court can act effectively and work
advantage to the plaintiff™), Horowitz v Rett,
235 Mich 369; 209 NW 131 (1926) (defen-
dant who appealed from an award of a writ
of restitution in a summary proceeding after
paying the amount found due to stay the
operation of the writ of restitution was not
entitled to appeal; because a judgment that
has been satisfied "no longer exists,” there
was “nothing upon which a writ of ervor can
operate”) (this decision is very question-
able, particularly in light of MCL 600.1475;
MSA 27A.1475, which, rather than purport-
Ing to confer jurisdiction upon the Court, ap-

ARy

pears propetly to be interpreted as Creating 5
remedy upon which an appellate decree coulg
operate), Clairview Park fmprovement Coy Dp.
troit & Lahe St. Clair Ry, 164 Mich 74; 129
NW 353 (1910) (this is a curious case iy
which, apparently, the Court regarded plain-
tiff’s insistence that the defendant satisfy the
judgment as resulting in a waiver of the
plaindff’s right to appeal), Drolshagen v Drl.
shagen, 230 Mich 444; 202 NW 959 (1925)
(becanse defendant paid the judgment
against it, the Court said that it could hear
only defendant’s argument in opposition to
plaintiff's appeal seeking different relief—an
injuncten—but could ot hear defendant’s
argument on cross-appeal because defen-
dant's satisfaction of the judgment “placed it
beyond our power to grant plaintiff less than
defendant has paid” or grant other reliefl o
defendant), Tong v Wayne Circul Judge, 231
Mich 336; 204 NW 108 (1925) (payment of
the entire amount of the judgment to the
clerk of the Court, without having obtained
a stay of proceedings, resulted in a waiver of
the right to appeal), Industrial Lease-Back
Corp v Township of Romulus, 23 Mich App
449, 451-452; 178 NW2d 812 (1970) (Jus-
tice—then Judge—L.evin sirikes again, sug-
gesting that, had the Township issued build-
ing permits in response to the trial court’s
injunction under a threat of contempt or
other execution on the judgment, rather than
simply obeying the judgment itself, the result
might have been differenit, bur that, because
the compulsion. of the judgment was not "so
overwhelming” that the defendant Township
was obliged (o issue the permits before it
could file a claim of appeal and move to stay
proceedings, the issnance of the permits was
deemed voluntary, extinguishing the right
to appeal). Especially now that a stay is not
automatically available upon filing a super-
sedeas bond, as was apparently the case in
the past, and z stay of proceedings is at Jeast
arguably discretionary under MCR 7.209, this
is an area of uncertainty that the Court
should address by promulgating an appro-
priate rule, so that litigants confronted with
an unstzyed order are not deemed to have
abandoned their right to appeal if they obey
the order without first being subjected to
punishment for conternpt, or execution, ek
ther of which can produce extremely dis-
Tuptive consequetices,

. Although Michigan permits an assignment

of proceeds from a malpractice action, We-
ston v Dowty, 163 Mich App 238; 414 Nw2d
165 {1987), a malpractice claim is not as-
signable, owing to the personal nature of
the atlorney-client relationship and public
policy censiderations, such as precluding
claims that could promote champerty and
force attorneys 1o defend themselves against
strangers. Joos v Drillock, 127 Mich App 99;
338 NW2d 736 (1983).
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